## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY and BIG 10 TIRE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00325

NICHOLAS L. KIRBY, JR., individually and as administrator of the Estate of Travis C. Kirby, Deceased, SHIRLEY S. KIRBY, NICHOLAS L. KIRBY, III, RILEY D. STRICKLAND, and SIDNEY ODOM

**APPELLEES** 

## APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE COPIAH CIRCUIT COURT

## **BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS**

OF COUNSEL:

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether Plaintiffs Failed to Present Any Evidence of a Manufacturing Defect.
- II. Whether the Jury Had Insufficient Evidence of Any Breach of Warranty.
- III. Whether Irrelevant and Prejudicial Evidence Was Improperly Presented to the Jury.
- IV. Whether It Was Reversible Error for the Trial Court to Disregard the Mandatory Language of Miss. Code Ann. § 85-5-7.
- V. Whether Misconduct Regarding the Jury Foreperson Requires a New Trial.
- VI. Whether the Jury Was Inflamed and Prejudiced by Improper Remarks of Plaintiffs' Counsel.
- VII. Whether Cumulative Error Requires a New Trial.

. 1 VIII. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Denying Defendants' Motion for Remittitur.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Course of Proceedings Below

In this drunk-driving case disguised as a products-liability action, Plaintiffs sued The Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company ("Goodyear"), Big 10 Tire Company ("Big 10"), and Howard-Wilson Chrysler-Jeep, Inc. ("Howard-Wilson"). Howard-Wilson settled with Plaintiffs for \$495,000.00 after failing to compel arbitration, T.285, R.E.30, and is not a party to this appeal.

Two of the Plaintiffs (Odom and the Estate of Kirby) sued in separate complaints on November 20, 2002, then consolidated their cases. R.57, R.E.4.<sup>1</sup> The third Plaintiff, Strickland, intervened as Plaintiff shortly thereafter. R.77, R.E.5. The First Amended Complaint, R.114, R.E. 6, theorized that the single-vehicle accident in this case was the fault of defective tires; it alleged negligence, gross negligence, and product liability, as to the last alleging specifically that the passenger-car tire at issue in this case was "in a dangerous and defective condition" when sold, R.128, R.E.6.

The Honorable Lamar Pickard originally was assigned the case, but recused himself on January 26, 2004. R.231, R.E.7. The Honorable Forrest A. Johnson was assigned by this Court on May 3, 2004. R.244, R.E.8.

The discovery period in this case became perhaps more contentious than usual, due to Plaintiffs' insistence on conducting discovery with regard to unrelated light-truck tires, despite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The transcript is cited as "T."; the record volumes are cited as "R."; trial exhibits are cited as "Trial Ex." All pages cited are provided in the Record Excerpts, which are cited by tab number ("R.E.\_"). The page number in the Record Excerpts is the same as the page number in the transcript or record volumes; thus, "R.128, R.E.6" directs the Court to page 128 at tab 6 of the Record Excerpts.

the subject tire's being a passenger-car tire. In brief, Plaintiffs sought to argue that Goodyear should have designed the passenger-car tire in the present case to include a nylon overlay that Goodyear used in its light-truck tires but not its passenger tires. Goodyear pointed out that light-truck tires are not substantially similar to passenger-car tires (see issue III, below). The trial court ultimately allowed Plaintiffs limited discovery in this regard.

The case went to trial in late October 2006. After Plaintiffs' tire expert admitted that the absence of a nylon overlay in a tire was not a design defect, the trial court granted Goodyear and Big 10 ("Defendants") a directed verdict on the issue of design defect, T.1393-94, R.E.30, and on any separate cause of action against Big 10 for alleged failure to warn the tires' purchaser that they were rated "only" up to 112 m.p.h., T.1397-98, R.E.30, but allowed the case to proceed on the other causes of action pleaded by Plaintiffs.

The result of the trial was a verdict that awarded damages of \$733,333.40 for Kirby, \$117,963.34 for Strickland, and \$1,754,800.00 for Odom. R.6884, R.E.2. After crediting the Howard-Wilson settlement, the final award was \$518,333.40 for Kirby, \$67,963.34 for Strickland, and \$1,524,800.00 for Odom, yielding a total verdict of \$2,111,096.74 against Defendants. R.6885, R.E.2. Plaintiffs did not request that the case proceed as to any claim for punitive damages. T.1752, R.E 31.

Goodyear and Big 10 filed a Rule 59 motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or a new trial, or a remittitur, or an amended verdict, all of which was denied by the trial court on February 9, 2007. R.7278-79, R.E.3. Defendants' notice of appeal was timely filed on February 26, 2007. R.7280-81, R.E.24. Plaintiffs cross-appealed on March 12, 2007, R.7299-7300, R.E.25, and filed an amended notice of cross-appeal on April 20, 2007. R.7344-45, R.E.26.

-3-

## **II. Statement of Relevant Facts**

ĩ.

i

i

Travis Kirby ("Kirby"), age 20, and Riley Strickland ("Strickland"), age 18, had a favorite pastime in the summer of 2000: on weekends, they would drink beer and ride the roads of Copiah County in Kirby's red Camaro Z28 that his mother had helped him buy. T.822, R.E.29; T.967, R.E.30. Kirby would buy the beer, even though he was underage, and Strickland would pay his part. T.822, R.E. 29. Strickland would drink six to eight beers and Kirby would drink 12 to 18 beers — in other words, a case of beer between them. T.823-25, R.E.29. As Strickland explained at trial, in his view, "most teenager[s] now-a-days, what they do is they go out on the weekends, drive fast and drink beer." T.837, R.E.29. Speeding was evidently part of the fun; Strickland found nothing to disapprove of in Kirby's driving over 90 m.p.h. in a 55-m.p.h. zone. T.838, R.E.29.

On the night of Friday, August 4, 2000, Kirby took Strickland's 12-year-old brother with him to buy the case of beer for that night's entertainment. T.825-26, R.E.29. Kirby and Strickland iced the beer down and started drinking it in the car about 7:00 p.m., having nothing to eat but this "liquid diet" for the rest of the night. T.827-28, T.830, R.E. 29. The boys picked up Sidney Odom ("Odom"), age 19, at some point to visit a bar, where Kirby went in and had an unknown number of drinks while Strickland and Odom drank beers in the car. T.829, R.29;T.881-82, R.E.30. Later, hanging out at a gas station with some friends, Strickland's parents stopped by, but the boys hid their beer quickly until the coast was clear. T.828, R.E.29.

The single-vehicle accident that gave rise to this case occurred later that night, on Saturday, August 5, 2000, at about 3 a.m. on Highway 27 in Copiah County, when Kirby lost control of his Camaro while driving about 92 m.p.h. (in a 55-m.p.h. zone) and crashed into several trees. T.1229, 1255, 1274, R.E.30. Kirby died instantly; Strickland and Odom, passed

-4-

out at the time of the accident and unable to remember it afterwards, were injured. T.791-92, 833, R.E.29. Kirby's blood-alcohol level ("BAC") at the time of the accident was .25, more than three times the legal limit. Trial Ex. 46, R.E.35. Strickland's BAC was .103 when tested four and a half hours after the accident. T.832, R.E.29.

The right rear tire of Kirby's Camaro was flat after the accident, with a portion of the tread separated. All four of the tires were Kelly Charger<sup>2</sup> P245/50R165 passenger-car tires that came with the used Camaro when Kirby and his mother bought the sports car from Howard-Wilson. T.700, R.E.30. The tires were purchased by the Camaro's previous owner, Ivan Ostrander, who admitted to such mistreatment of the tire as "spinning out" and causing the back tires to smoke. T.642-43, R.E.28. Plaintiffs' tire expert at trial, Robert Ochs, admitted at trial that he saw the marks on the tire caused by such treatment. T.609, R.E.28. At the time of the accident, the tread depth on the rear tires was worn to 3.5/32 of an inch, down from the tread depth of 10.5/32 when new. T.1442-43, R.E.30. A tire should be replaced no later than when its tread depth reaches 2/32 of an inch. T.1442, R.E.30. The subject tire had an estimated useful life of 50,000 miles and had been driven somewhat over 10,000 miles at the time of the accident. T.559, R.E.28; T.1453, R.E.30. Thus, in only 20 percent of its estimated useful mileage (10,000 out of 50,000), the tire had been used and abused to the point that it had worn through 88 percent of its useful tread life. T.1443, R.E.30.

What caused the tread separation in the right rear tire was the central focus of this case. Although Plaintiffs' only tire expert, Ochs, claimed that he could find no evidence of a puncture to the tire, T.644, R.E.28, the tire expert for Defendants actually showed the jury the puncture

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The tire was marketed as a Kelly Charger and was manufactured at the Kelly Springfield plant, but Goodyear is the successor in interest to Kelly Springfield.

in the tire that was produced by an impact shortly before the accident occurred. T.1425-26, 1431, R.E.30. The puncture was at the same spot where the tire began to come apart, making it highly likely they were related. T.1432, R.E.30.

Strickland and Odom recovered dramatically from their injuries. Odom now works fulltime in a line job at the Nissan plant. T.867-68, R.E.30. Nine months after the accident, Odom wrote on a job application that he was fully recovered with no disabilities and could work overtime and weekends. Trial Exs. 24 & 25, R.E.33 & 34; T.922-24, 932, R.E.30. Since the accident, he has married and fathered a child. T.867, R.E.30. As for Strickland, he was back at work in less than four months, and he sought no medical attention for his injuries after 2001. T.840-41, R.E.29.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The judgment should be reversed and rendered for Defendants because Plaintiffs won a manufacturing-defect verdict without ever offering any proof of the existence of any manufacturing defect in the subject tire. While circumstantial evidence may be used to prove such a defect, that evidence must amount to more than "the tire failed, therefore it was defective" — and exactly such a *res ipsa loquitur* argument is all that Plaintiffs' tire expert could offer in this case. The jury had insufficient evidence of any manufacturing defect, and this Court should therefore reverse and render for Defendants.

Another basis to reverse and render is that, although Plaintiffs also went to the jury on a breach-of-warranty theory, they should not have been allowed to do so, because there was no evidence of any guarantee that the subject tire would not fail below the federally-assigned speed rating of 112 m.p.h. We doubt that any tire seller or manufacturer in the history of this State has sold a tire with the guarantee that it would not fail if driven under 112 m.p.h., and Defendants certainly were not the first.

Alternatively, there are several grounds for a new trial. First, Plaintiffs were improperly allowed to introduce prejudicial and irrelevant evidence regarding design issues and other, unrelated accidents involving light-truck tires, even though such tires are not substantially similar to the passenger-car tire at issue in this case, and even though the trial court granted a directed verdict to Defendants on Plaintiffs' design-defect theory.

Second, the trial court disregarded the mandatory language of § 85-5-7 requiring allocation of fault to all tortfeasors. Despite the fact that Travis Kirby was driving drunk and in gross excess of the speed limit, his negligence per se was not taken into account in determining

-7-

liability for damages to the other two plaintiffs. This denied Defendants a just verdict and requires a new trial.

Third, when Goodyear during *voir dire* asked the jury pool which of them had experienced the injury of a family member in an alcohol-related car accident, juror Dorothy King said nothing — even though she had just stated, during her *voir dire* in a DUI case, that she had lost her son in a DUI accident, and that she could not avoid giving her sympathies as a juror to the bereaved mother of a young man killed in such circumstances. King went on to become the jury's foreperson, and under the prior rulings of this Court, her concealment of the truth, together with the failure of Plaintiffs' counsel to disclose that his son had been a pallbearer at the funeral of King's son, entitles Defendants to a new trial.

Fourth, it was reversible error for Plaintiffs' counsel to continually make statements before the jury pertaining to punitive-damages liability during their opening statements and in the guise of "objections" during trial. Bifurcation of trial proceedings is meaningless if plaintiffs are allowed to poison the jury's minds with insinuations about "evidence" that would be admissible, if at all, only during a punitive-damages phase.

Even if none of the foregoing were taken individually to require a new trial, the cumulative error surely did so. If this Court will not reverse and render for insufficient evidence, then a new trial should be granted.

Alternatively and finally, the judgment of over \$2 million against Defendants is grossly excessive, given the obvious fault of all three Plaintiffs. A remittitur is proper and should be ordered, particularly in view of Plaintiffs' repeated efforts to inflame the passion and bias of the jury against Defendants with improper statements and prejudicial, inadmissible evidence.

-8-

#### **ARGUMENT**

A judgment notwithstanding the verdict must be granted, and its denial is reversible error, where the evidence is legally insufficient to allow the verdict:

The standard of review in considering a trial court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is de novo. The trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and look only to the sufficiency, and not the weight, of that evidence. \* \* \* When determining whether the evidence was *sufficient*, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence is of such quality that reasonable and fairminded jurors in the exercise of fair and impartial judgment might reach different conclusions.

Poole ex rel. Poole v. Avara, 908 So. 2d 716, 726 (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted). The evidence

is "legally sufficient" only if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict. Johnson v. St.

Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp., 967 So. 2d 20, 22 (Miss. 2007). "Substantial evidence is much

more than conjecture, speculation, or suspicion." Miss. State Bd. of Examiners for Social

Workers & Marriage & Family Therapists v. Anderson, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1086 (Miss. Ct. App.

2000).

A new trial is proper where the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the

evidence, or where other considerations dictate a new trial:

A new trial may be granted in a number of circumstances, such as when the verdict is **against the overwhelming weight of the evidence**, or **when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions**, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its **verdict is a result of bias, passion, and prejudice**.

*Poole*, 908 So. 2d at 726 (quoting *Shields v. Easterling*, 676 So. 2d 293, 298 (Miss. 1996)) (emphasis added). Insofar as the weight of the evidence is concerned, the trial court should order a new trial when "convinced that verdict was contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence so that justice requires that a new trial be granted." *Id.* (citation omitted).

## I. Plaintiffs Failed to Present Any Evidence of a Manufacturing Defect

The trial court correctly granted a directed verdict on Plaintiffs' design-defect claim, but denied Defendants' motion for directed verdict on the manufacturing-defect claim. This was error, because Plaintiffs were unable to show any actual deviation in the tire from the manufacturer's specifications, as required at Mississippi law. Judgment notwithstanding the verdict was therefore proper, and this Court should reverse and render for Defendants.

#### A. There Was No Evidence of Any Material Deviation in the Tire

The Mississippi statute creating a cause of action for a manufacturing defect requires the plaintiff to prove "that at the time the product left the control of the manufacturer or seller ... [t]he product was defective because it deviated in a material way from the manufacturer's specifications or from otherwise identical units manufactured to the same manufacturing specifications." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-63(a)(1)(i) (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs, however, were unable to come forward with any evidence of a "material way" in which the subject tire "deviated in a material way from the manufacturer's specifications." On cross-examination by Goodyear, Plaintiffs' only tire expert, Robert Ochs, admitted that after examining the subject right rear tire, he could not point to any actual defect in the tire, as evidenced by the following testimony:

# Q. Now, I believe you testified earlier you could not point to any specific defect in the tire?

A. That's correct.

T.640, R.E.28 (emphasis added); *see also* T.641, R.E.28 ("can't say one specific thing" was defective). Ochs also admitted that there was no evidence of prior separation in the components of the subject tire that existed at the time of the subject tire's manufacture, as follows:

-10-

- Q. You said in your opinion written opinion that there was no evidence prior of any component of separation?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. There was no separation component, correct?
- A. I don't believe there was separation when it left the plant.

T.641, R.E.28 (emphasis added). Ochs further admitted that the subsequent abuse of the rear tires by the previous owner (Ivan Ostrander) would cause "separation growth." T.643, R.E.28. He found damage to the rear tires consistent with that abuse. T.609, R.E.28. On these facts, the jury did not have sufficient evidence to find that, "at the time the product left the control" of Defendants, there was any defect in the tire.

Put another way, Ochs could point to *no* deviation in a material way from Goodyear's specifications in the subject tire. The best that Ochs could do was to opine that this tire was speed rated at a speed of up to 112 m.p.h. and, because the tire failed at a speed less than 112 m.p.h., it therefore must be defective. As he stated under direct examination for Plaintiffs:

- Q. Well, Mr. Ochs, if it wasn't inflation, or speed above the speed-rating of the tire, or underinflation or overinflation, do you know what caused the failure? Why did the tire fail at twenty-two miles below, approximately, its rated speed?
- A. The tire failed to achieve the necessary speed that it was rated for. At this point I do not have sufficient information to be able to point to one specific characteristic of the tire to be able to say that, in fact, the problem was in the compounding, problems in curing.

T.617, R.E.28 (emphasis added).

. . . .

But Ochs also admitted on cross-examination that tires routinely fail due to any number

of things, including punctures, road-hazard impacts, and "misuse or abuse" (T.639-40, R.E.28),

that are not manufacturing defects.

Ochs presented no expert evidence for the proposition that a tread belt separation at 92

m.p.h., in and of itself, is any sort of evidence of a manufacturing defect. Nor did he provide any

*basis* for his opinion that tire failure at a speed below the speed rating is evidence of a defect. As discussed at issue II, below, the "speed rating" is assigned by the federal government (not Goodyear) simply to denote that it has tested a tire of that model, at that speed, for all of ten minutes without incident.

There was thus no testimony as to which of the "manufacturer's specifications" the tire failed to meet, or of how the subject tire allegedly differed from another identical tire built to those specifications. If Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-63(a)(1)(i) is not to be completely disregarded, then Plaintiffs failed to make their case. As it stands, Defendants are in the position of being held liable for a judgment of more than two million dollars, *without anyone 's having been able to demonstrate to them what was allegedly wrong with the subject tire*.

## B. Plaintiffs' "It Was Defective Because It Failed" Argument Is Res Ipsa Loquitur, Not Circumstantial Evidence

What the jury was asked to believe, and evidently did believe, was that it could find for Plaintiffs merely on the evidence that a tread belt separation occurred. That was error.

Circumstantial evidence is admissible in a manufacturing-defect case, as regards the existence of the alleged defect at the time when the product left the factory, because "direct proof of a defect at the time the product left the possession of the manufacturer is seldom available to a plaintiff." *BFGoodrich, Inc. v. Taylor*, 509 So. 2d 895, 903 (Miss. 1987). But that is not the same as "proving" *the existence of a defect itself* by circumstantial evidence. *See Farris v. Coleman Co.*, 121 F. Supp. 2d 1014, 1018 (N.D. Miss. 2000) ("Federal courts in Mississippi have observed that the Mississippi Supreme Court has not permitted recovery on mere proof that damage occurred following the use of a product."). "*Absent proof of a defect, plaintiff's claim must fail.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). Any other rule would be an example of the logical fallacy post

÷.

ŝ

i

i.

1 1

i.

*hoc ergo propter hoc*, "after this, therefore because of this," whose "flawed logic" has been rejected by this Court. *See Cuevas v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co.*, 956 So. 2d 1306, 1311 (S.D. Miss. 1997) (citing Mississippi cases).

[

÷

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