### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

THE GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY and BIG 10 TIRE COMPANY

**APPĒLLANTS** 

V.

NO.: 2007-CA-00325

NICHOLAS L. KIRBY, JR., Individually and as Administrator of the Estate of TRAVIS C. KIRBY, Deceased, SHIRLEY S. KIRBY AND NICHOLAS L. KIRBY, III, RILEY D. STRICKLAND and SIDNEY ODOM

APPELLEES CROSS-APPELLANTS

## BRIEF OF APPELLEES AND CROSS-APPELLANTS

Jim Kitchens, MSB
Margaret P. Ellis, MSB
Jeffrey L. Ellis, MSB
KITCHENS & ELLIS
610 North Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39202-3116
Telephone: 601-355-7444
Facsimile: 601-355-1281

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

Such oaths are to be given great deference. *See Scott v. Ball*, 595 So. 2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992) (holding that "jurors take their oaths and responsibilities seriously, and when a prospective juror assures the court that, despite the circumstance that raises some question as to his qualification, this will not affect his verdict, this promise is entitled to considerable deference.") The trial judge also instructed the jurors that "[t]he fact that you may know one of the attorneys, know who they are, has got nothing to do with this case, should have nothing to do whatsoever with this case." (T. at 312.)

Additionally, the trial court asked the jurors: "[i]s there anybody that has any close personal

15

See T. at 1785, by Judge Johnson: "This juror and all the other jurors at some point I know at least one time stated to the Court under their oath that they could be fair in this case. The Court asked this in a number of different ways and a number of different times, and this juror stated that she could."

relationship with either one of these two attorneys [James W. Kitchens and his law partner, Margaret P. Ellis], would you please raise your hand and let the court know about it." (T. at 313.) Mrs. King did not raise her hand because she had no relationship with the Kitchens family.

Considering that there was no relationship which was required to be disclosed, Judge Johnson correctly pointed out at the post-trial motion hearing that he would have refused to dismiss Mrs. King for cause had the Defendants requested same on the basis of the alleged relationship, stating:

[v]ery clearly the information that's before this Court would not rise to the level of a challenge for cause . . . [t]here's all kind of cases where a connection is a whole lot stronger than this where it doesn't rise to a challenge for cause, and as long as that juror tells the Court they can be fair, that does not rise - - something of this nature does not rise to a level of a challenge for cause.

(T. at 1786; R.E. at 72.) Thus, the trial court correctly held that the alleged relationship would not have risen to the level of a challenge for cause, and such a decision was well within his discretion.

The Defendants have not shown any prejudice resulting from Mrs. King being seated on the jury. Though they argue throughout their brief that the jury's verdict was unanimous, the record just does not support such a conclusion. After the jury had been deliberating for almost six and a half hours, the trial judge brought them back in the courtroom to see how their deliberations were going. Mrs. King, the foreperson, told the judge that the jury was split, seven to five, without indicating which way they were split.

Mrs. King also told the judge that she did not believe further deliberations would be helpful, indicating that her mind was made up. Four other jurors told the judge the same thing, while the remaining seven jurors said that they believed further deliberations would be helpful. (T. at 1708-09; R.E. at 70.) At the post-trial motion hearing, counsel for the Kirby Plaintiffs, James Kitchens, pointed out to the trial judge, *inter alia*, the following regarding the alleged unanimity of the verdict:

At the conclusion of this trial when that verdict was brought in, read by the clerk, the Court did inquire of them as to whether each of them agreed to the verdict. That was the language that I clearly recall Your Honor using. If I had to bet and I am not a betting man, but if I had bet, I do not believe this was a unanimous verdict. I think the way that the Court asked the question they were saying that they agreed that they were saying that each one of them agreed that the verdict - - that it was his or her personal verdict that was what they brought in. If I had to guess, I'd say Mrs. King was probably against us but that's an inquiry we cannot make, but I just think that the way the Court asked the question, and I am not criticizing your question. I am just saying I don't think that they were telling you that each and every one of them assented to that verdict, but they did agree that it represented a consensus, nine or more of the jurors brought in that verdict.

(T. at 1790; R.E. at 72.)

A review of the record shows that counsel's recollection of the trial judge's question to the jury was correct. After the verdict was read, the trial judge asked:

All right. Now, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, it's necessary that I do what's known as polling just to make certain that nine or more of you agree upon these verdicts. Now, if these are your verdicts, if these are what you voted for, you don't have to say anything, but just nod your head, yes, give me some type of affirmative sign. If these are not your verdicts, if this is not what you voted for, then give me some type of negative sign, shake your head, no.

(T. at 1720-21; R.E. at 71.) (Emphasis added.)

Thus, the record not only supports the conclusion that there was no improper relationship between Juror King and the Kirby attorneys, it also fails to support the conclusion that Mrs. King even voted for the Plaintiffs. Such a conclusion is mere speculation that finds no support in the record. Rather, the record in this case, and in the *voir dire* for the Braddy case, shows that Mrs. King was a "crusader against alcohol" and would be in favor of prohibition, and that Plaintiffs' counsel, for that reason, did not want her on the jury in this case.

Quite simply, there was no relationship between Mrs. King and counsel for the Kirbys that warranted disclosure, and the Defendants know it. This issue is baseless, replete with misrepresentations and unwarranted accusations, and should be summarily denied.

### VI. There Were No Improper Remarks by Plaintiffs' Counsel

Here, the Defendants complain about remarks made by Plaintiffs' counsel during the trial. Defendants argue that the remarks by Plaintiffs' counsel constituted punitive damages evidence that should not have been permitted during the compensatory phase of the trial. Though Defendants argue that Plaintiffs' counsel made improper remarks "during opening statements and throughout the trial, including the closing arguments" (Defendants' Brf. at 37), they fail to point this Court to any allegedly improper remarks made in closing arguments. Accordingly, that argument, if one is in fact made, is waived. *McClain v. State*, 625 So 2d 774, 781 (Miss 1993); *Baine v. State*, 604 So. 2d 249, 255 (Miss. 1992).

With the exception of the two instances cited by Defendants wherein counsel objected due to Defendants' failure to provide discovery documents, <sup>16</sup> the instances Defendants complained of occurred during the opening statements, well before the trial judge had dismissed Plaintiffs' design defect claims. Further, despite their representations to the contrary, Defendants did not offer a contemporaneous objection to counsel's statements located at page 421 of the transcript, so any alleged error regarding that statement was waived. *See* M.R.E. 103(a)(1); *see also Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Estate of Edwards*, 964 So. 2d 1138, 1150 (Miss. 2007) (internal citations omitted) (holding that "[f]ailure to make a contemporaneous objection at trial constitutes a waiver of any error subsequently assigned.")

Counsel is permitted, both during *voir dire* and during opening statements, to make reference to all the theories of the case which have been pleaded and are expected to be proved. *Wood v*.

As argued elsewhere herein, Defendants' failure to identify and produce discovery documents bars their complaints on appeal of any perceived error directly resulting from their misconduct.

Burns, 797 So. 2d 331, 334 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly held that counsel has wide latitude in arguments to the jury, both in closing arguments and opening statements. The Supreme Court has held that:

any alleged improper comment must be viewed in context, taking the circumstances of the case into consideration. The trial judge is in the best position to determine if an alleged objectionable remark has a prejudicial effect. As such, [reversal is warranted] only where a trial judge abuses his or her discretion in overruling the contemporaneous objection raised by opposing counsel.

Burr v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr., 909 So. 2d 721, 724-725 (Miss. 2005).

The statements Defendants complain of were proper based on the Plaintiffs' theories of the case and the evidence presented at trial, and the trial judge did not consider them objectionable in the heat of battle, and he again considered and denied the Defendants' arguments at the hearing on their post-trial motions as follows:

I recall there were numerous objections in this case. I ruled on these the best I could. Thank goodness under the law the trial judge such as myself is not required to render a perfect trial where every single ruling on the evidence is absolutely perfectly correct. I did the best job that I could under the circumstances . . . the Court in reviewing this matter does not find where there's any evidence of this nature that was injected into this trial that would amount to any level that this Court would be required to set this verdict aside and to order a new trial in this matter.

(T. at 1754.)

Such a conclusion was clearly within his discretion. Additionally, none of the isolated comments urged by the Defendants were erroneous, and they certainly do not rise to the level of reversible error. Indeed, the Defendants cite no case where such comments resulted in the reversal of a case, obviating the necessity of this Court addressing the matter. *See, e.g., Huff-Cook, Inc. v. Dale*, 913 So. 2d 988, 991 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Williams v. State*, 708 So. 2d 1358, 1362-63 (Miss. 1998)).

Also, as this Court is well aware, remarks of counsel are not evidence, and the jury was so

instructed.

Juny Instruction No. 1 provided in part as follows:

Arguments, statement and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence. If any argument, statement or remark has no basis in the evidence, then you should disregard that argument, statement or remark.

(R. at 6736.) Jury Instruction No. 9 properly instructed the jury as follows:

Remember that any statement, objections or arguments made by the lawyers are not evidence in the case. The function of the lawyers is to point out those things that are most significant or most helpful to their side of the case, and in so doing, to call you attention to certain facts or inferences that might otherwise escape your notice. In the final analysis, however, it is your own recollection and interpretation of the evidence that controls in the case. What the lawyers say is not binding upon you.

So, while you should consider only the evidence in the case, you are permitted to draw such reasonable inference from the testimony and exhibits as you feel are justified in the light of common experience. In other words, you may make deductions and reach conclusions which reason and common sense lead you to draw from the facts which have been established by the testimony and evidence in the case.

(R. at 6765.) Instruction No. 28 provided, in part, as follows: "You are not authorized to award any damages in the nature of a penalty . . ." (R. at 6825.)

Further, prior to opening statements the Court instructed the jury as follows:

Now, I want you to keep in mind what the attorneys tell you is not evidence. What they say is not evidence in the case. You will hear the evidence by way of the sworn testimony of the witnesses from the witness stand and also any documents or exhibits that the court allows to be introduced into evidence . . . [s]o again, keep in mind this is what each side is telling you that from their perspective what they feel like the evidence is going to show in this case, but again, what they tell you is not evidence in this case.

(T. at 413-14.) The jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the Court. *Hobbs Auto., Inc. v. Dorsey*, 914 So. 2d 148, 164 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Fielder v. Magnolia Beverage Co.*, 757 So. 2d 925, 937 (Miss. 1999)).

In *Bradfield v. Schwartz*, 936 So. 2d 931(Miss. 2006), the Mississippi Supreme Court acknowledged it is not at all uncommon for issues to be relevant under issues of liability and punitive damages. The Court stated:

We readily acknowledge that it is hardly uncommon for cases to involve "mixed facts" which would be relevant on both the issues of liability and punitive damages. For example, while a Defendant driver's intoxication would no doubt be an issue for the jury to consider in making a determination on punitive damages, evidence of the intoxication would likewise be relevant on the issue of liability.

Bradfield, 936 So. 2d at 939, Fn. 9.

17

Similarly, in the case at bar, the evidence complained of by the Defendants was clearly relevant and admissible in the liability phase of this trial, considering that one of Plaintiffs' theories was that the Defendants' failure to use a nylon overlay or cap ply on a high performance tire advertised to withstand speeds up to 112 miles per hour for 50,000 miles was a design defect and a breach of Defendants' warranties.

The Beale Robinson deposition testimony contained evidence that the Defendant's standards for making and selling tires of this class and category in Europe, South America and the Orient is different than it is in the United States. This testimony substantiated counsel's remarks that Defendants knew they had a tread throw problem, which was relevant to the negligence and other tort claims brought by Plaintiffs. The testimony proved that the Defendants were actually and constructively aware that their tires were not performing safely, which is also relevant to the product liability claims brought by Plaintiffs. At the time the comments were made, they were relevant and admissible to Plaintiffs' pending claims, and they were supported by the evidence adduced during the trial. Any error, which Plaintiffs do not concede, was harmless.<sup>17</sup>

See Sanders v. State, 801 So. 2d 694, 704 (Miss. 2001) (finding that "[t]he statements made by

The Defendants clearly waived any alleged error by failing to request the trial judge to instruct the jury to disregard any alleged misstatements of Plaintiffe' counsel, 18 and they did not feel so aggrieved by any of the comments or arguments of counsel to move for a mistrial. The Defendants objected to remarks of Plaintiffs' counsel they felt were inappropriate, and the jury heard their objections and was appropriately instructed by the Court. Any alleged error in counsel's statements is harmless considering all the circumstances.

# VII. The Cumulative Error Doctrine Has No Application Because There was No Reversible Error

The Supreme Court has held that individual errors, not reversible in themselves, may combine with other errors to make up reversible error. *Hansen v. State*, 592 So. 2d 114, 142 (Miss. 1991); *Griffin v. State*, 557 So. 2d 542, 553 (Miss. 1990). The question under these and other cases is whether the cumulative effect of all errors committed during the trial deprived the Defendant of a fundamentally fair and impartial trial. However, where there is "no reversible error in any part, . . . . . there is no reversible error to the whole." *McFee v. State*, 511 So. 2d 130, 136 (Miss. 1987).

The cases are legion where the Defendant, usually a criminal Defendant, as a last-ditch effort for relief from a proper jury verdict, throws in the cumulative error doctrine as an issue. However, such relief is very rarely warranted or granted. In a decision refusing to apply the cumulative error doctrine, the Supreme Court stated that "the verdict of the jury is to be given great weight. No trial is free of error; however, to require reversal the error must be of such magnitude as to leave no doubt

18

the prosecutor in the opening statement and closing arguments were no more than deductions and conclusions that could reasonably flow from the facts and evidence presented. Even if we found these arguments to be in error, this error would be harmless because there does not appear to be any resulting unjust prejudice against Sanders from these statements.")

See Snider v. State, 755 So. 2d 507, 510 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

that the appellant was unduly prejudiced." *Burr v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 909 So. 2d 721, 731 (Miss. 2005) (internal citations omitted).

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